THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

AUG 01 2017

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION

T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
Susan S. Barden, Commissioner
Gene McCaskill, Commissioner

WCC File No. 1413546
Appellate Case No. 2016-002294

Timothy McDuffie, Employee, Claimant, Respondent,

v.

Johnson Food Services, LLC, Employer, and Great American Alliance Insurance Co./Strategic
Comp., Carrier, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

August 1, 2017

E. Ros Huff, Jr., Esquire #2767
Shelby G. Hapeshis, Esquire #74731
HUFF AND HAPESHIS, LLC
Post Office Box 1935
7244 Woodrow Street
Irmo, South Carolina 29063
(803) 252-2232 telephone

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **Did the Commission err in determining that the claimant's injury to his right lower extremity was compensable, the error being that this finding is not supported by the preponderance of the evidence?**
2. **Did the Commission err in determining that the claimant was entitled to temporary total disability benefits, the error being that temporary total disability benefits was not pled, raised or properly brought before the hearing Commissioner, thus denying the Defendant's notice/due process?**
3. **Did the Commission err in appointing Dr. Mazoue as the authorized treating physician as the defendants have the right to choose?**
4. **Is the Commission's order defective, improper and not enforceable because of numerous deficiencies?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 19, 2014, Claimant, Timothy A. McDuffie, sustained a compensable accident while performing his job duties for Defendant, Johnson Food Services, LLC, in Richland County, South Carolina. As this Employer and its Carrier, Great American Alliance Insurance Company, acknowledged the compensability of a back injury component, they subsequently authorized Mr. McDuffie's receipt of certain medical treatment through several providers, primarily Drs. Michael W. Peelle of Moore Orthopaedics and Stewart Young of First Care. The claimant was ultimately released and found to be at MMI by Dr. Young on December 31, 2014. He was given a 0% rating to his lumbar spine.

Per Form 50 dated June 12, 2015, the claimant's attorney claimed an additional injury to the left leg and further medical treatment for the left leg and back and that the claimant had not yet reached maximum medical improvement. This Form 50 prompted Defendants' filing of a July 10, 2015 Form 51 through which Defendants again denied Mr. McDuffie's need for further medical care.

A hearing was held on October 29, 2014 on the Form 50/51. During the course of this hearing, the hearing commissioner considered testimony from the claimant and reviewed the medical evidence submitted by both parties. The Hearing Commissioner issued an order on May 16, 2016 finding Defendants: “(a) accept financial responsibility for all medical modalities previously provided/prescribed by any authorized healthcare specialists, as well as for the charges stemming from Dr. Mazoue’s June 10, 2015 evaluation; (b) authorize the additional causally related medical treatment, medications, evaluations, diagnostic testing, evaluative procedures, physical therapy, surgical procedures, etc. provided/prescribed by Dr. Mazoue who is hereby designated as Mr. McDuffie’s treating physician relative to the left knee injury component for the purposes of this claim; (c) accept financial responsibility for **treatment** of Mr. McDuffie’s lumbar posttraumatic facet syndrome through an appropriate specialist of its choosing, who shall provide **treatment** for this condition as a causally related result of Mr. McDuffie’s compensable accident; and (d) pay temporary total disability compensation (at the rate specified herein) effective the day following his last active work date until such time as this obligation is relieved by further Order of this Commission”. It is from that order that Defendants appeal.

On September 19, 2014, Mr. McDuffie sustained a compensable injury to his back at the Johnson Food Services, LLC facility located at Fort Jackson military base in Richland County, South Carolina. He stated that he injured himself when he tripped after coming in contact with a pipe. Mr. McDuffie worked at Johnson food services for approximately sixteen (16) months.

Mr. McDuffie was directed by his Employer to Medicare Urgent Care Center (September 20, 2014). At that visit, the doctor performed an examination which was essentially normal wherein the claimant had normal range of motion, gait, stance, and posture. He also had a normal

exam of the back. An x ray of the spine was performed that was also normal and there was **no soft tissue swelling. He was assessed with a back sprain and he only complained of pain in his back and his calf.** (R. Vol. 2 p. 411-414)

When his pain persisted, Mr. McDuffie sought further examination through the Palmetto Health Baptist Emergency Room (September 23, 2014), where he was diagnosed with left buttocks pain and sciatica. He had a normal full ROM at the left hip, knee, and ankle. (R. Vol. 2 p. 415-435) On the following day, Mr. McDuffie was examined, per Defendants' directive, by Dr. Stewart Young of First Care, who diagnosed the claimant with a lower back injury. Left knee sprain and left leg injury and stated that "all injuries are minor." By September 29, 2014, the claimants symptoms had subsided and Dr. Young agreed to return the claimant to work. Dr. Young noted the following:

Normal gait, left knee is normal to palpation and has normal ROM; and crossing the left leg over the right he does have some MCL pain but there is no ligament instability. The patella is freely moveable, not ballotable and non-tender. The low back is non-tender and he has normal ROM in torso rotation, with some mild low back pain on full rotation to the right, negative straight leg raise. Left thigh musculature is non-tender and without spasm. The patient is vastly improved and has no residual findings that would suggest he is not able to work without restriction, with which he agrees. (R. Vol. 2 p. 436-437)

Even the claimant agreed that he was able to work at that visit. On October 13, 2014, the claimant again had a normal exam for his back and his knee and again his straight leg tests were negative. On December 31, 2014, the claimant was again released to work as he had no complaints. As the orthopaedist noted at the exam, December 31, 2014 follow-up visit, Dr. Peelle: (a) indicated the lumbar MRI scan did not reveal any disc pathology; (b) offered no additional treatment; and (c) discharged him to resume full duty work activities

effective January 5, 2015. In fact, the MRI findings on December 19, 2014 showed **no abnormalities to account for left-sided pain. The claimant then sought treatment on his own with numerous doctors for his subjective pain complaints.** (R. Vol. 2 p. 450)

ARGUMENTS

ARGUMENT I

The Commission erred in determining that the claimant's injury to his right lower extremity was compensable, the error being that this finding is not supported by the preponderance of the evidence.

The claimant has the burden of proving his entitlement to benefits by the greater weight of the evidence. Hill v. Jones, 255 S.C. 219, 178 S.E.2d 142 (1970). Defendants provided treatment to the claimant for his alleged back injury. The claimant himself even stated that he was able to return to work and better when Dr. Young released him. There is no diagnostic testing to confirm the claimant's subjective pain complaints. Therefore, it was error for the Commissioner to award further medical treatment.

ARGUMENT II

The Commission erred in determining that the claimant was entitled to temporary total disability benefits, the error being that temporary total disability benefits was not pled, raised or properly brought before the hearing Commissioner, thus denying the Defendant's notice/due process.

While the issue of temporary total disability was ruled upon by the Commissioner, it was NEVER raised nor properly before the Commissioner. The Form 50 Request for Hearing under paragraph eight (8) is **BLANK**. Therefore, the issue of temporary total disability was not raised, noticed nor addressed at the hearing. The claimant's Form 58 is also devoid of any mention of TTD benefits. TTD was not raised at the hearing. (R. Vol. 1 p. 80-93).

As such, the hearing Commissioner did not have the issue of TTD before her and she exceeded her authority in making a ruling with regard to the temporary total disability issue.

Further, because the Defendants were never given notice of the TTD issue or the opportunity to be heard on the issue at the hearing, their due process rights were violated.

Under South Carolina's Constitution, due process in the administrative context is established by S.C. Const. Art. I, § 22. S.C. Ambulatory Surgery Ctr. Ass'n v. S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n, 389 S.C. 380, 699 S.E.2d 146, (S.C. 2010). The fundamental requirements of due process under the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution include notice, **an opportunity to be heard** in a meaningful way, and judicial review. S.C. Ambulatory Surgery Ctr. Ass'n v. S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n, 389 S.C. 380, 699 S.E.2d 146, (S.C. 2010). Because Defendants due process rights were violated without notice and an opportunity to be heard on the issue of TTD, the commissioner's order is erroneous and should be reversed.

ARGUMENT III

The Commission erred in appointing Dr. Mazoue as the authorized treating physician as the defendants have the right to chose.

The Workers Compensation Commission committed an error of law when they appointed Dr. Mazoue as the authorized treating physician. There was no basis for this appointment and this was error because this is not a situation under 42-15-60(a), that calls for the Commission to appoint a treating physician because this is a denied case:

- (A) The employer shall provide medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment, including medical and surgical supplies as reasonably may be required, for a period not exceeding ten weeks from the date of an injury, to effect a cure or give relief and for an additional time as in the judgment of the commission will tend to lessen the period of disability as evidenced by expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. In addition to it, the original artificial members as reasonably may be necessary must be provided by the employer. During any period of disability resulting from the injury, the employer, at his own option, may continue to furnish or cause to be furnished, free of charge to the employee, and the employee shall accept, an attending physician and any medical care or treatment that is considered necessary by the attending physician, unless otherwise ordered by the commission for good cause shown. The refusal of an employee to accept any

medical, hospital, surgical, or other treatment or evaluation when provided by the employer or ordered by the commission bars the employee from further compensation until the refusal ceases and compensation is not paid for the period of refusal unless in the opinion of the commission the circumstances justified the refusal, in which case the commission may order a change in the medical or hospital service. **If in an emergency, on account of the employer's failure to provide the medical care as specified in this section, a physician other than provided by the employer is called to treat the employee, the reasonable cost of the service must be paid by the employer, if ordered by the commission.**

The Employer did not fail to provide medical care as specified in this section because they were not obligated to do so under the statute. Therefore, there is no reason for the commission to order treatment by a specific physician. Pursuant to McKinney v. Kimberly Clark Corp, 658 S.E.2d 112 (App. 2008), the defendants have the right to choose the physician. Therefore, the Commission committed an error of law in appointing a physician in this instance for treatment.

ARGUMENT IV

The Commission's order is defective, improper and not enforceable because of numerous deficiencies.

Defendants contend that the order of the Hearing Commissioner is deficient in that conclusions of law 3,5,7,8, and 9 are not properly stated conclusions of law.