**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION**

**T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
Susan S. Barden, Commissioner
Gene McCaskill, Commissioner**

RECEIVED

AUG 31 2017

SC Court of Appeals

W.C.C. FILE NO.: 1413546

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2016-002294

Timothy A. McDuffie, Employee, Claimant,RESPONDENT.

v.

**Johnson Food Services, LLC, Employer, and Great American Alliance Insurance Co./
Strategic Comp., Carrier,APPELLANTS.**

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Andrew N. Safran
Post Office Box 12089
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 256-6689

Attorney for Respondents

August 31, 2017
Columbia, South Carolina

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

(a) lumbar extension “loads the facet joints”, to the extent that when an individual “either return[s] . . . upright or extend[s], . . . a facet joint issue . . . [will] declare itself” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 366); (b) his clinical observation of pain with lumbar extension was consistent with the relevant clinical findings identified in Dr. Lembo’s June 9, 2015 report, as well as Dr. Johnson’s June 11, 2015 report (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 366-367); (c) Mr. McDuffie’s positive straight leg raise response was also consistent with the diagnosis of posttraumatic facet syndrome (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 362-363); (d) his updated (October 12, 2015) examination remained reflective of a posttraumatic facet syndrome (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 350-351); (e) Mr. McDuffie’s lumbar symptoms resulted from his September 19,

2014 compensable accident (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 338, 372); (f) treatment for this back injury component would begin with medial branch blocks, with consideration of radiofrequency rhizotomy depending upon his response to these blocks (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 340, 371, 375); (g) improvement of Mr. McDuffie's back injury component would be enhanced by receipt of treatment for his left knee (See, Record on Appeal, p. 372); (h) his receipt of treatment for the back injury component was reasonable, medically necessary and aimed toward lessening the ultimate period of disability stemming from the September 19, 2014 compensable accident (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 372-373); and (i) **the restrictions he had assigned were not only geared toward preventing Mr. McDuffie "from getting any worse until he gets some treatment", "but also reasonable and medically necessary" in this instance** (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 347, 373). (See also, Record on Appeal, pp. 21-22, 54-55)(Emphasis added).

On June 9, 2015, Mr. McDuffie was evaluated by Dr. Lembo, who: (a) noted he continued to experience left sided low back pain radiating "into the posterior left side to his knee" following the September, 2014 tripping injury; (b) found that he displayed "left sided lumbar paraspinal hypertrophy and pain with lumbar extension"; (c) characterized his symptoms to be consistent with lumbar facet and myofascial pain; (d) recommended proceeding with a "lumbar facet joint injection vs. medial branch block to identify [the] . . . pain generator"; (e) indicated this treatment course was "consistent with" his physical examination and imaging findings; and (f) also felt resumption of Naprosyn and a trial of Robaxin, **in conjunction with a 30 lb. lifting limitation**, were appropriate. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 11-12, 44-45, 403-404).

Inspection of Dr. Lembo's September 10, 2015 deposition testimony confirms:

(a) Mr. McDuffie's reported symptoms were consistent with his described mechanism of injury and her clinical findings (See, Record on Appeal, p. 197); (b) he exhibited both objective evidence of muscle spasm and pain with lumbar extension, which she indicated were consistent with an injury caused by his compensable accident (See Record on Appeal, pp. 204, 206, 228-229, 236); (c) the presence of painful extension was a "significant"

factor in her diagnosis, as this finding is “consistent with a facet pain generator” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 228); (d) facetogenic pain, which she “commonly . . . see[s] in [her] . . . practice” is not diagnosed through MRI scanning (See, Record on Appeal, p. 227); and (e) she reaffirmed her July 20, 2015 opinion that Mr. McDuffie’s posttraumatic lumbar facet syndrome proximately results from his September 19, 2014 compensable accident (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 233). (See also, Record on Appeal, pp. 18-19, 52).

Additionally, after being apprised of Mr. McDuffie’s persistent lumbar symptoms and associated functional difficulties, Dr. Lembo verified:

(a) his causally related pain was interfering with daily activities (See, Record on Appeal, p. 233); (b) her prior questionnaire response relative to the likelihood his “causally related lumbar symptoms . . . remain[ing] problematic and materially/negatively impact[ing] . . . upon his ability to sustain work activities” remained accurate (See, Record on Appeal, p. 234); (c) these symptoms were “most likely not going to . . . improve . . . absent treatment” (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 234-235); (d) his receipt of any accommodations in connection with his employment was not consistent with unrestricted work activity (See, Record on Appeal, p. 239); and (e) Mr. McDuffie’s causally related symptoms warranted imposition of a 30 pound lifting restriction (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 208, 219, 238). (See also, Record on Appeal, pp. 19-20, 52-53).

Mr. McDuffie then (June 10, 2015) underwent focused examination of his left knee by Dr. Mazoue, who: (a) was apprised of the September 19, 2014 mechanism of injury, as well as the nature of his left knee pain; (b) elicited both medial joint line tenderness and a very positive medial McMurray’s test response on clinical examination; (c) expressed “concern . . . about a medial meniscus tear of his left knee”; and (d) recommended obtaining an MRI of the left knee. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 12, 45, 386-388).

Through questionnaire responses dated July 13, 2015, Dr. Mazoue confirmed: (a) **“the mechanism of injury which Mr. McDuffie described (tripping over a pipe with his left leg**

followed by jarring while attempting to maintain his balance and avoid falling to the floor) was sufficient to create not only Mr. McDuffie's documented left leg symptoms, but also left medial meniscal pathology"; (b) the "documented left leg symptoms, including references to pain in the area of his left knee, are most probably consistent with this September 19, 2014 mechanism of injury"; (c) "[g]iven Mr. McDuffie's mechanism of injury, as well as his documented symptoms of both radicular left leg pain and left medial knee pain . . . at least a portion of his current left leg symptoms most probably result from a left knee injury component"; (d) "the left knee symptoms and clinical abnormalities identified in [his] June 10, 2015 report most probably result from the consequences of Mr. McDuffie's September 19, 2014 compensable accident"; and (e) "the treatment modalities . . . [he had] recommended, including an MRI scan and reevaluation to assess treatment options, are reasonable, medically necessary and geared toward lessening the ultimate period of disability produced by Mr. McDuffie's September 19, 2014 compensable accident" (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 12-13, 45-46, 389-391)(Emphasis added).

During the course of an October 19, 2015 deposition, Dr. Mazoue verified/explained:

(a) Mr. McDuffie exhibited "a moderate level of discomfort to palpation" of the medial joint line on examination (See, Record on Appeal, p. 257); (b) his McMurray's test response was "significantly positive" (See, Record on Appeal, p. 259); (c) both the medial joint line tenderness and McMurray's test response have "an objective and subjective portion" (See, Record on Appeal, p. 258); (d) Mr. McDuffie's mechanism of injury "was very consistent with the development of a meniscus tear, and his physical exam was highly consistent with a meniscus tear" (See, Record on Appeal, p. 264); and (e) this "high likelihood of meniscus tear" had prompted his recommendation for an MRI scan (Id.). (See also, Record on Appeal, pp. 13, 46-47).

This orthopaedic surgeon further confirmed:

(a) the information contained on Mr. Ernest Roberts' September 23, 2014 statement (See, Record on Appeal, p. 385) generally coincided with his understanding as to Mr. McDuffie's mechanism of injury (See, Record on Appeal, p. 267); (b) it was not uncommon for leg pain associated with an injury of type to have multiple sources (See, Record on Appeal, p. 268); (c) a meniscal tear does not preclude one from exhibiting a relatively normal range of motion (See, Record on Appeal, p. 270); (d) the results of prior examinations during Mr. McDuffie's post-injury course of treatment, including Dr. Young's findings, were consistent with the results of his clinical examination (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 269-273); (e) the McMurray's test is a recognized standard for assessing the presence of a medial meniscal tear (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 276-277); and (f) Mr. McDuffie's response to this clinical test constituted a "highly significant" finding, which he believed to be a reliable indication of meniscal pathology (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 277-279) (See also, Record on Appeal, pp. 15, 47).

On June 11, 2015, Mr. McDuffie was evaluated by Dr. Johnson, who: (a) obtained a history of injury consistent with previous examiners; (b) noted the presence of persistent "low back and buttock pain on the left that radiates down the left lower extremity to just below the popliteal fossa"; (c) identified "tenderness to palpation in the left lower lumbar region", "decreased . . . [r]ange of motion . . . particularly with full extension secondary to pain", "worsening pain [with] . . . leg extension" and a positive straight leg raise test response on the left; (d) indicated these symptoms were "a result of the 09-19-14 accident and very likely reflective of posttraumatic facet syndrome", for which he had not reached maximum medical improvement; and (e) recommended "focused treatment that could include medial branch blocks which would be diagnostic as well as therapeutic." (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 15, 48-49, 399-400).

In this regard, pursuant to questionnaire responses dated July 20, 2015, Dr. Johnson verified, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that: (a) “the posttraumatic lumbar facet syndrome . . . [he had] diagnosed proximately results from Mr. McDuffie’s September 19, 2014 compensable accident”; (b) “without treatment, Mr. McDuffie’s causally related lumbar symptoms will most probably remain problematic and materially/negatively impact upon his ability to sustain work activities”; (c) “the course of treatment . . . [he had] recommended for Mr. McDuffie’s lumbar injury component is reasonable, medically necessary and geared toward lessening the ultimate period of disability produced by his September 19, 2014 compensable accident”; and (d) treatment of the left knee injury component was “likewise reasonable, medically necessary and geared toward lessening [this] . . . ultimate period of disability” (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 15-16, 49, 401-402).

When questioned as to the nature/source of Mr. McDuffie’s lumbar symptoms, Dr. Johnson confirmed/reiterated:

(a) his routine treatment of facetogenic pain, as well as the diagnosis of posttraumatic facet syndrome (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 298-299); (b) facetogenic pain, particularly if traumatic, does not lend itself to accurate diagnosis through MRI scanning (Id.); (c) the diminished lumbar extension referenced by several examiners, as well as the slightly flexed posture of the spine he observed during this clinical examination, were reflective of facetogenic pain (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 297, 298, 306); (d) both the left buttock/thigh pain and positive straight leg raise responses he (and several other examiners) observed were likewise consistent with posttraumatic facet syndrome (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 300-301); and (e) Mr. McDuffie’s mechanism of injury was likewise consistent with the production of posttraumatic facetogenic pain (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 299-300) (See also, Record on Appeal, pp. 16-17, 49-50).

Dr. Johnson further explained:

(a) Mr. McDuffie's clinical presentation was valid and the product of a genuine effort (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 302-303); (b) the presence of 5/5 muscle strength was not only anticipated, but also "in no way inconsistent with [his] . . . diagnosis of post-traumatic facet syndrome" (See, Record on Appeal, p. 303); (c) given the fact Mr. McDuffie's posttraumatic facet syndrome and left knee pathology had received no focused treatment, the progressive worsening of lumbar symptoms recently documented by Dr. Riber was an expected consequence of his accident (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 303-305); (d) failure to treat his left knee injury component has "[a]bsolutely" fueled "the continued presence of the facet syndrome and likely prolong[ed] . . . it" (See, Record on Appeal, p. 305); and (e) Mr. McDuffie requires treatment of the left knee in tandem with focused care of his posttraumatic facet syndrome (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 304-305, 308-309) (See also, Record on Appeal, pp. 17, 50-51).

Dr. Johnson also verified:

(a) as Mr. McDuffie was attempting to remain employed through performance of regular duty work activities, he did not discourage this effort (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 306-307); (b) he had developed "trust" in Dr. Riber's opinions through their professional experience ("I think he does a fine job") (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 305-306); (c) **his agreement with the work restrictions imposed by Dr. Riber (Id.)**; (d) the validity of Mr. McDuffie's description of his persistent lumbar symptoms (See, Record on Appeal, p. 310); and (e) his adherence to the opinions expressed in his July 20, 2015 questionnaire responses (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 307-308) (See also, Record on Appeal, 17-18, 51).

Although he obviously attempted to perform full duty work in accordance with Dr. Peelle's instruction, Mr. McDuffie: (a) continued to experience back and left leg symptoms; (b) encountered problems engaging in these job activities, noting receipt of assistance and instances where he "couldn't even . . . stand straight up . . . [and/or his] back had locked up" (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 111-112); (c) **had more recently missed time from work because his "back was giving [him] . . . problems"** (See, Record on Appeal, p. 37); (d) **was instructed by his**

Employer to obtain “a doctor’s slip” in order to resume work following these recent absences (See, Record on Appeal, p. 38); (e) provided his Employer with this required documentation following medical reevaluation in October, 2015 (See, Record on Appeal, p. 39); (f) was nonetheless afforded no opportunity to resume restricted work activities, despite compliance with his Employer’s directive (Id.); (g) received no explanation as to why his restrictions would not be accommodated other than “. . . I couldn’t come back ‘til their insurance people talked to my lawyer” (Id.); and (h) remained “willing to come back” (Id.). (See also, Record on Appeal, pp. 22-23, 55-56)(Emphasis added).

Mr. McDuffie’s testimony also confirms:

(a) the duties incidental to his job as a Cook II include “cooking in the big pots, cleaning up, putting the pots and pans . . . in the aisles, putting them in the warmers, serving on the line . . . [and] going to the meat room to get the meat” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 96); (b) these work activities require lifting weights that not only exceed 10 lbs. (the limitation identified by Dr. Riber and endorsed by Dr. Johnson), but also the 30 lb. restriction referenced by Dr. Lembo (“chicken is like the most heaviest thing that we’ll pick up. It’s probably like 40 to 45 pounds.”) (Id.); (c) he is also obliged to twist (See, Record on Appeal, p. 97); (d) the left knee pain had been present “from the beginning” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 113); (e) while Dr. Young had “looked at [his] . . . knee”, there had heretofore been no focused treatment of this injury component by any physician to whom he was directed by Defendants (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 104, 118-119); and (f) his symptoms had never abated following receipt of the full duty work release from Dr. Peelle (See, Record on Appeal, p. 123). (See also, Record on Appeal, pp. 23-24, 56-57).

After thoroughly reviewing all evidence of record and acknowledging the single commissioner’s observations of Mr. McDuffie during the course of the hearing, the Commission/Appellate Panel found:

(a) his testimony, including description of the injury mechanism and the nature/location of all symptoms associated

with this accident, are wholly consistent with the medical evidence; (b) this medical evidence certainly confirms the onset of low-back and left leg pain shortly after sustaining the admittedly compensable September 19, 2014 trauma; (c) while the apparent absence “of structural abnormalities on his MRI” led Dr. Peelle to discharge him from active care, Drs. Johnson, Riber and Lembo unanimously confirmed a scan of this nature is not diagnostic of facetogenic pain; (d) these medical specialists also convincingly verified/explained the positive correlation between their diagnosis of posttraumatic facet syndrome with not only his relevant clinical findings (including diminished lumbar extension), but also the September 19, 2014 mechanism of injury; (e) these specialists, who each regularly encounter facetogenic pain in their respective practices, likewise reliably established his need for previously unprovided facet-directed treatment; and (f) this treatment, aimed toward a posttraumatic facet syndrome diagnosed by Drs. Johnson, Riber and Lembo, proximately results from the consequences of his September 19, 2014 compensable accident. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 57-58).

The Commission/Appellate Panel also found:

(a) the evidence, including consistent opinions expressed by Drs. Johnson, Riber and Lembo, convincingly indicates Mr. McDuffie’s compensable accident has created a lumbar posttraumatic facet syndrome; (b) this causally related condition has produced not only persistent back pain, but also associated left leg symptoms (See, testimony of Drs. Riber and Johnson); (c) Mr. McDuffie has not reached the point of maximum medical improvement relative to this causally related back injury component; (d) the treatment he requires for this compensable back injury component includes, but is not limited to, the lumbar facet/medial branch blocks identified by these physicians; and (e) Mr. McDuffie’s receipt of these additional treatment modalities for his back injury component is reasonable, medically necessary and geared toward lessening the ultimate period of disability produced by the consequences of his September 19, 2014 compensable accident. (See, Record on Appeal, p. 58).

It further found:

(a) the symptoms stemming from Mr. McDuffie’s causally related back injury component have negatively impacted upon his ability to engage in unrestricted work activities, notwithstanding Dr. Peelle’s previous full duty work

release; (b) Dr. Riber (who documented the presence of facetogenic symptoms in January, 2015, as well as the progressive impact of his condition in October, 2015) recommended several work restrictions (“no twisting, stooping or bending and no lifting greater than 10 pounds”) in order to avoid further worsening of these symptoms; (c) these restrictions were subsequently endorsed by Dr. Johnson, who expressed his “trust” in Dr. Riber’s judgment as to work status; (d) Dr. Lembo similarly felt Mr. McDuffie was incapable of performing unrestricted work activities, assigning a 30 pound lifting limitation; and (d) the work restrictions assigned by these physicians are inconsistent with certain aspects of Mr. McDuffie’s “full duty” work regimen. (See, Record on Appeal, p. 59)(Emphasis added).

The Commission/Appellate Panel likewise found:

(a) after these causally related lumbar symptoms necessitated his absence from work in 2015, Mr. McDuffie attempted to resume performance of his job duties; (b) despite his provision of medical documentation authorizing performance of restricted work activities, his Employer has declined to afford him any opportunity to engage in job duties consistent with these medical restrictions; (c) the medical evidence firmly establishes these restrictions result from/are attributable to the consequences of his September 19, 2014 compensable accident; (d) our inspection of the record verifies Mr. McDuffie’s continued absence from work was exclusively the product of Defendants’ unwillingness to “accommodate” these work restrictions (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 87, 91, 113-115); (e) although all parties were aware of these work restrictions, as well as Mr. McDuffie’s desire to engage in accommodated job duties, Defendants elected not to provide work consistent with these medical limitations; and (f) these circumstances have produced a continuing period of temporary total disability. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 59-60)(Emphasis added).

It additionally found:

(a) after sustaining the September 19, 2014 trauma, Mr. McDuffie reported the presence of both back and left leg pain; (b) as time progressed, the left leg pain persisted from his buttocks to his knee; (c) despite Dr. Young’s clinical identification of left knee symptoms and recommendation of orthopaedic referral

for assessment of “. . . [p]ersistent low back, left thigh and left knee pain”, Defendants’ designated physician (Dr. Peelle) did not perform a focused examination of Mr. McDuffie’s left knee; and (d) he was consequently **obliged to obtain an independent medical evaluation by Dr. Mazoue.** (See, Record on Appeal, p. 60)(Emphasis added).

In this connection, the Commission/Appellate Panel found Dr. Mazoue (the only orthopaedic surgeon who scrutinized Mr. McDuffie’s left knee):

(a) discovered significant clinical evidence of medial meniscus pathology; (b) explained these clinical findings had “an objective” element; (c) indicated the September 19, 2014 mechanism of injury “was very consistent with the development of a meniscus tear”; (d) attributed Mr. McDuffie’s left knee symptoms to the consequences of his compensable accident; and (e) recommended further treatment, commencing with performance of an MRI scan. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 60-61).

It similarly found:

(a) the reliable medical evidence, particularly the opinions expressed by Dr. Mazoue, **amply establish a causal relationship between Mr. McDuffie’s focal left knee symptoms and his September 19, 2014 compensable accident;** (b) he requires further treatment for this injury component, including an MRI scan and follow-up care through Dr. Mazoue; (c) Mr. McDuffie has not yet achieved maximum medical improvement relative to his causally related left knee injury component; (d) his receipt of further treatment is reasonable, medically necessary and will tend to lessen the period of disability produced by the consequences of the September 19, 2014 compensable accident; and (e) **notwithstanding their full awareness of Dr. Mazoue’s determination as to the nature/source/medical requirements of Mr. McDuffie’s causally related left knee symptoms, as well as the absence of any contrary opinion relative to these symptoms, Defendants chose to deny liability for this left knee injury component.** (See, Record on Appeal, p. 61)(Emphasis added).

The Commission/Appellate Panel finally found:

The medical treatment, medications, evaluations, diagnostic testing, physical therapy, etc. which Mr. McDuffie has heretofore

received/undergone through any authorized medical providers were reasonable, medically necessary and tended to lessen his ultimate period of disability. We also find Dr. Mazoue's June 10, 2015 evaluation was reasonable, medically necessary and tended to lessen Mr. McDuffie's ultimate period of disability. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 61-62).

Based upon the evidence of record, the Commission/Appellate Panel concluded: (a) Mr. McDuffie had sustained compensable injuries to both his back and left leg within the meaning of S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-1-160 (2015); (b) he has "clearly established" the causal relationship of both his current lumbar and left knee symptoms to the consequences of this compensable accident; and (c) Mr. McDuffie required further treatment for each of these injury components in accordance with the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-15-60 (2015) See, Record on Appeal, pp. 62-64)

In this regard, the Commission/Appellate Panel further concluded:

(a) despite their knowledge (through report, questionnaire responses and deposition testimony) of Dr. Mazoue's opinions relative to Mr. McDuffie's left knee injury component and the absence of any conflicting medical opinion relative to this injury component, Defendants maintained their denial of liability; (b) notwithstanding this denial, they certainly had ample opportunity to obtain assessment of this left knee injury component, but chose not to do so; (c) given the nature of his left knee symptoms, Mr. McDuffie reasonably sought evaluation from Dr. Mazoue (whose qualifications to treat this condition have not been challenged); (d) Mr. McDuffie has developed sufficient confidence in Dr. Mazoue to proceed with surgery by this physician (a likely scenario); and (e) the current circumstances constitute good cause for designation of Dr. Mazoue as Mr. McDuffie's authorized treater relative to the left knee injury component per Section 42-15-60. See also, Clark v. Aiken County Government, 366 S.C. 102, 620 S.E. 2d 99, 104 (Ct. App. 2005); Hall v. United Rentals, Inc., 371 S.C. 69, 636 S.E. 2d 876, 885 (Ct. App. 2006). (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 64-65).

The Commission/Appellate Panel also squarely addressed the issue relative to Mr. McDuffie's entitlement seek an award of temporary total disability compensation, concluding:

Additionally, the email correspondence requested Commissioner Taylor to address Mr. McDuffie's entitlement to temporary total disability compensation. In response, counsel for Defendants maintained that as the Form 50 did not specifically request this compensation, the issue was not ripe for determination.

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